EPPING FOREST DISTRICT COUNCIL **COMMITTEE MINUTES**

Committee: Area Planning Sub-Committee **Date**: 17 September 2014

East

Place: Council Chamber, Civic Offices, Time: 7.30 - 9.29 pm

High Street, Epping

Members Mrs S Jones (Chairman), P Keska (Vice-Chairman), Mrs H Brady, T Church, Present:

P Gode, Mrs A Grigg, Mrs M McEwen, R Morgan, B Rolfe, D Stallan,

B Surtees, C Whitbread, Mrs J H Whitehouse and J M Whitehouse

Other

Councillors:

Apologies: A Boyce, W Breare-Hall, J Philip and G Waller

Officers J Leither (Democratic Services Assistant), R Perrin (Democratic Services Present:

Assistant) and N Richardson (Assistant Director (Development

Management))

23. WEBCASTING INTRODUCTION

The Chairman made a short address to remind all present that the meeting would be broadcast on the Internet, and that the Council had adopted a protocol for the webcasting of its meetings. The Sub-Committee noted the Council's Protocol for Webcasting of Council and Other Meetings.

24. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTION

The Chairman welcomed members of the public to the meeting and outlined the procedures and arrangements adopted by the Council to enable persons to address the Sub-Committee, in relation to the determination of applications for planning permission. The Sub-Committee noted the advice provided for the public and speakers in attendance at Council Planning Sub-Committee meetings.

25. **MINUTES**

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting held on 20 August 2014 be taken as read and signed by the Chairman as a correct record subject to Item 19 (b). Declarations of Interest, Councillor Surtees did not declare an interest in the item below:

EPF/1379/14 – Harlow Garden Centre, Canes Lane, Hastingwood, Harlow.

26. **DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST**

Pursuant to the Council's Code of Member Conduct, Councillor B Surtees declared a personal non pecuniary interest in the following item of the agenda by virtue of being a Town Councillor. The Councillor had determined that his interest was not prejudiial and that he would remain in the meeting for the consideration of the application and voting thereon:

- EPF/1791/14 Highfield, High Street, Ongar.
- (b) Pursuant to the Council's Code of Member Conduct, Councillor T Church declared a personal non pecuniary interest in the following item of the agenda by virtue of being a Town Councillor. The Councillor had determined that his interest was not prejudicial and that he would remain in the meeting for the consideration of the application and voting thereon:
- EPF/1623/14 Garage Site, Amesbury Close, Epping.

27. ANY OTHER BUSINESS

It was noted that there was no other urgent business for consideration by the Sub-Committee.

28. DEVELOPMENT CONTROL

RESOLVED:

That the planning applications numbered 1 - 6 be determined as set out in the schedule attached to these minutes.

29. DELEGATED DECISIONS

The Sub-Committee noted that schedules of planning applications determined by the Head of Planning and Economic Development under delegated authority since the last meeting had been circulated and could be inspected at the Civic Offices.

CHAIRMAN

APPLICATION No:	EPF/1024/14
SITE ADDRESS:	Land Rear of Royal Oak Oak Hill Road Stapleford Abbotts Essex RM4 1JL
PARISH:	Stapleford Abbotts
WARD:	Passingford
APPLICANT:	Mr P Lewis
DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSAL:	Outline application for five dwellings including determination of access, layout and scale.
DECISION:	Grant Permission (With Conditions)

Click on the link below to view related plans and documents for this case:

http://planpub.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/AniteIM.websearch/ExternalEntryPoint.aspx?SEARCH_TYPE=1&DOC_CLASS_CODE=PL&FOLDER1_REF=562852_

The Committee's attention was drawn to letters of representation from residents of Nos. 1-8 (inclusive) Kensington Park, Oak Hill Road, Tudor Close, Oak Hill Road and Woodlands, Oak Hill Road.

CONDITIONS

- The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission or two years from the approval of the last of the reserved matters as defined in condition 2 below, whichever is the later.
- a) Details of the reserved matters set out below ("the reserved matters") shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval within three years from the date of this permission:
 - (i) appearance; and
 - (ii) landscaping.
 - b) The reserved matters shall be carried out as approved.
 - c) Approval of all reserved matters shall be obtained from the Local Planning Authority in writing before any development is commenced.
- The permission hereby given shall not be implemented prior to the completion of the development permitted under planning permission EPF/1023/14.
- 4 No construction works above ground level shall take place until documentary and photographic details of the types and colours of the external finishes have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority, in writing. The development shall be implemented in accordance with such approved details.
- Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning General Permitted Development Order 1995 as amended (or any other Order revoking, further amending or re-enacting that Order) no extensions generally permitted by virtue of

Class A of Part 1 of Schedule 2 to the Order shall be undertaken without the prior written permission of the Local Planning Authority.

- 6 No development shall take place, including site clearance or other preparatory work, until full details of both hard and soft landscape works (including tree planting) and implementation programme (linked to the development schedule) have been submitted to an approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These works shall be carried out as approved. The hard landscaping details shall include, as appropriate, and in addition to details of existing features to be retained: proposed finished levels or contours; means of enclosure; car parking layouts; other minor artefacts and structures, including signs and lighting and functional services above and below ground. The details of soft landscape works shall include plans for planting or establishment by any means and full written specifications and schedules of plants, including species, plant sizes and proposed numbers /densities where appropriate. If within a period of five years from the date of the planting or establishment of any tree, or shrub or plant, that tree, shrub, or plant or any replacement is removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies or becomes seriously damaged or defective another tree or shrub, or plant of the same species and size as that originally planted shall be planted at the same place, unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation.
- No development, including works of demolition or site clearance, shall take place until a Tree Protection Plan Arboricultural Method Statement and site monitoring schedule in accordance with BS:5837:2012 (Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction recommendations) has been submitted to the Local Planning Authority and approved in writing. The development shall be carried out only in accordance with the approved documents unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation.
- A flood risk assessment and management and maintenance plan shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to commencement of development. The assessment shall include calculations of increased run-off and associated volume of storm detention using WinDes or other similar best practice tool. The approved measures shall be carried out prior to the substantial completion of the development and shall be adequately maintained in accordance with the management and maintenance plan.
- 9 No development shall take place until a Phase 1 Land Contamination investigation has been carried out. A protocol for the investigation shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before commencement of the Phase 1 investigation. The completed Phase 1 report shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of any necessary Phase 2 investigation. The report shall assess potential risks to present and proposed humans, property including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and service lines and pipes, adjoining land, groundwaters and surface waters, ecological systems, archaeological sites and ancient monuments and the investigation must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's "Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11", or any subsequent version or additional regulatory guidance. [Note: This condition must be formally discharged by the Local Planning Authority before the submission of details pursuant to the Phase 2 site investigation condition that follows]

10 Should the Phase 1 Land Contamination preliminary risk assessment carried out under the above condition identify the presence of potentially unacceptable risks, no development shall take place until a Phase 2 site investigation has been carried out. A protocol for the investigation shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority before commencement of the Phase 2 investigation. The completed Phase 2 investigation report, together with any necessary outline remediation options, shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to any redevelopment or remediation works being carried out. The report shall assess potential risks to present and proposed humans, property including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and service lines and pipes, adjoining land, groundwaters and surface waters, ecological systems. archaeological sites and ancient monuments and the investigation must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's "Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11", or any subsequent version or additional regulatory guidance. [Note: This condition must be formally discharged by the Local Planning Authority before the submission of details pursuant to the remediation scheme condition that follows]

Should Land Contamination Remediation Works be identified as necessary under the above condition, no development shall take place until a detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved remediation scheme unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The remediation scheme must include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site management procedures and any necessary long term maintenance and monitoring programme. The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 or any subsequent version, in relation to the intended use of the land after remediation.

[Note: This condition must be formally discharged by the Local Planning Authority before the submission of details pursuant to the verification report condition that follows]

- Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme and prior to the first use or occupation of the development, a verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be produced together with any necessary monitoring and maintenance programme and copies of any waste transfer notes relating to exported and imported soils shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval. The approved monitoring and maintenance programme shall be implemented.
- In the event that any evidence of potential contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved development that was not previously identified in the approved Phase 2 report, it must be reported in writing immediately to the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in accordance with a methodology previously approved by the Local Planning Authority. Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a verification report must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority in accordance with the immediately above condition.

- All construction/demolition works and ancillary operations, including vehicle movement on site which are audible at the boundary of noise sensitive premises, shall only take place between the hours of 07.30 to 18.30 Monday to Friday and 08.00 to 13.00 hours on Saturday, and at no time during Sundays and Public/Bank Holidays unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
- No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. The Statement shall provide for:
 - 1. The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors
 - 2. Loading and unloading of plant and materials
 - 3. Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development
 - 4. The erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate
 - 5. Measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction, including wheel washing.
 - 6. A scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and construction works.
- Prior to first occupation of the development the applicant shall submit details, for the extension of the existing footway from the pub to the access, as shown in principal on drawing no.13.2310/P202 Rev D, to be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with the Highway Authority. The approved details shall then be implemented prior to first occupation.
- The public's rights and ease of passage over public footpath no.33 Stapleford Abbotts shall be maintained free and unobstructed at all times.
- Prior to first occupation of the proposed development, the Developer shall be responsible for the provision and implementation of a Residential Travel Information Pack for sustainable transport, approved by Essex County Council, to include six one day travel vouchers for use with the relevant local public transport operator.
- Prior to commencement of the development details showing the means to prevent the discharge of surface water from the development onto the highway shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be carried out in its entirety prior to the access becoming operational and shall be retained at all times.
- The proposed development shall not be occupied until such time as the vehicle parking and turning areas indicated on the approved plans, including any parking spaces for the mobility impaired, has been hard surfaced, sealed and marked out in parking bays. The parking and turning areas shall be retained in this form at all times. The parking and turning areas shall not be used for any purpose other than the parking and turning of vehicles that are related to the use of the development unless otherwise agreed with the Local Planning Authority.

APPLICATION No:	EPF/1352/14
SITE ADDRESS:	Esperanza Nursery Stapleford Road Stapleford Abbotts Essex RM4 1EJ
PARISH:	Stapleford Abbotts
WARD:	Passingford
APPLICANT:	Mr Tony Humphries
DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSAL:	Outline planning permission to demolish office, boiler house and two glasshouses, erect 2 no. two storey houses and detached garage block, lay out access drive and turning head, amenity and parking areas, alter vehicular access onto Stapleford Road and plant woodland/meadow, hedgerows and trees (Amended proposal to EPF/0964/13).
DECISION:	Refuse Permission

Click on the link below to view related plans and documents for this case: http://planpub.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/AniteIM.websearch/ExternalEntryPoint.aspx?SEARCH_TYPE=1&DOC_CLASS_CODE=PL&FOLDER1_REF=564311

At the meeting, the representative of Stapleford Abbotts Parish Council confirmed that they supported the planning application.

The Committee agreed with the Officer's recommendation to refuse planning permission, subject to deletion of the 2nd No. 2 reason, give the two policies referred to therein were not in conformity to the National Planning Policy Framework.

REASON FOR REFUSAL

- The site lies within the Metropolitan Green Belt where there is a presumption against inappropriate development except in very special circumstances. The proposal is for inappropriate development. Whilst the applicant has advanced a case of very special circumstances, no such exceptional circumstances are apparent in this case that would be sufficient to outweigh the normal presumption against inappropriate development. As such the proposal fails to comply with policy GB2A (which is consistent with policies contained within the National Planning Policy Framework).
- Whilst this is an outline proposal, the plan layout shown and the indicative proposed two new dwellings will introduce buildings in a pattern that will encroach into the Green Belt. This will result in conspicuous buildings within the Green Belt that will harm the openness and rural character; this fails to accord with policies DBE4, CP2 and GB7A of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations (which are consistent with policies contained within the National Planning Policy Framework).

- The application fails to make provision for an affordable housing contribution contrary to policy H6A and H7A of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations (which are consistent with policies contained within the National Planning Policy Framework).
- The proposals are situated in a rural and unsustainable location, isolated from public transport or local facilities, therefore encouraging dependence on private car use which is contrary to the aims and objectives of policies CP1, CP2, CP3, and ST1 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alteration (which are consistent with policies contained within the National Planning Policy Framework).

SUGGESTED WAY FORWARD

The Committee suggested a way forward on any subsequent planning application as follows:-

- 1. The two houses be brought towards the front part of the site, and
- 2. Their sizes be reduced.

APPLICATION No:	EPF/1464/14
SITE ADDRESS:	16 Orchard Drive Theydon Bois Epping Essex CM16 7DJ
PARISH:	Theydon Bois
WARD:	Theydon Bois
APPLICANT:	Mr N Taylor
DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSAL:	Hip to gable rear dormer and lantern roof light over kitchen flat roof by removing part of the existing pitched roof.
DECISION:	Grant Permission

Click on the link below to view related plans and documents for this case: http://planpub.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/AniteIM.websearch/ExternalEntryPoint.aspx?SEARCH_TYPE=1&DOC_CLASS_CODE=PL&FOLDER1_REF=564932

CONDITIONS

The development hereby permitted must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning with the date of this notice.

APPLICATION No:	EPF/1484/14
SITE ADDRESS:	Calloways 5A Clatterford End Toot Hill Road Ongar Essex CM5 9QW
PARISH:	Stanford Rivers
WARD:	Passingford
APPLICANT:	Mrs Sarah Smart
DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSAL:	Outline application for erection of a pair of semi-detached houses to side of existing dwelling (all matters reserved).
DECISION:	Refuse Permission

Click on the link below to view related plans and documents for this case:

http://glangub.eppingforgstdc.gov.uk/ApitalM.websagrch/EyternalEntryPpint.espx?SSARCH_TYPE=18.00C_CLASS_CODE=PL8.EQLDER1_REE=56503:

ttp://planpub.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/AnitelM.websearch/ExternalEntryPoint.aspx?SEARCH_TYPE=1&DOC_CLASS_CODE=PL&FOLDER1_REF=565031_

The Committee's attention was drawn to a letter of representation from 6 Clatterford End.

REASONS FOR REFUSAL

- The site lies within the Metropolitan Green Belt and is not considered to be infill development as defined in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). It is therefore inappropriate development in the Green Belt and, by definition, harmful. Furthermore, it fails to protect the openness of the Green Belt and there are no overriding very special circumstances sufficient to outweigh the harm to the Green Belt. The proposal is therefore contrary to policies GB2A and GB7A of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations, and the aims and objectives of the NPPF.
- The proposals are situated in a rural and unsustainable location, isolated from public transport or local facilities, therefore encouraging dependence on private car use, which is contrary to the aims and objectives of policies CP1, CP2, CP3 and ST1 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations, and the aims and objectives of the NPPF.

APPLICATION No:	EPF/1623/14
SITE ADDRESS:	Garage Site Amesbury Close Epping Essex CM16 4JA
PARISH:	Epping
WARD:	Epping Hemnall
APPLICANT:	Grace & Oliver Sullivan
DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSAL:	Demolition of existing garages and construction of a new dwelling.
DECISION:	Grant Permission (With Conditions)

Click on the link below to view related plans and documents for this case: http://planpub.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/AniteIM.websearch/ExternalEntryPoint.aspx?SEARCH_TYPE=1&DOC_CLASS_CODE=PL&FOLDER1_REF=565614

The Committee's attention was drawn to a letter of representation from 12 Amesbury Close.

CONDITIONS

- 1 The development hereby permitted must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning with the date of this notice.
- The development hereby permitted will be completed strictly in accordance with the approved drawings 3211_PL01, PL02D, PL03.1C, PL04.1E, PL05B.
- No construction works above ground level shall take place until documentary and photographic details of the types and colours of the external finishes have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority, in writing. The development shall be implemented in accordance with such approved details.
- The proposed window opening in the western flank elevation at first floor level shall be entirely fitted with obscured glass and have fixed frames to a height of 1.7 metres above the floor of the room in which the window is installed and shall be permanently retained in that condition.
- The proposed area for parking vehicles hereby approved shall be retained so that it is capable of allowing the parking of cars together with any ancillary storage in connection with the residential use of the site.
- Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning General Permitted Development Order 1995 as amended (or any other Order revoking, further amending or re-enacting that Order) no development generally permitted by virtue of Class A and B of Part 1 of Schedule 2 to the Order shall be undertaken without the prior written permission of the Local Planning Authority.

- 7 No development shall take place until a Phase 1 Land Contamination investigation has been carried out. A protocol for the investigation shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before commencement of the Phase 1 investigation. The completed Phase 1 report shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of any necessary Phase 2 investigation. The report shall assess potential risks to present and proposed humans, property including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and service lines and pipes, adjoining land, groundwaters and surface waters, ecological systems, archaeological sites and ancient monuments and the investigation must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's "Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11", or any subsequent version or additional regulatory guidance. [Note: This condition must be formally discharged by the Local Planning Authority before the submission of details pursuant to the Phase 2 site investigation condition that follows1
- 8 Should the Phase 1 Land Contamination preliminary risk assessment carried out under the above condition identify the presence of potentially unacceptable risks, no development shall take place until a Phase 2 site investigation has been carried out. A protocol for the investigation shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority before commencement of the Phase 2 investigation. The completed Phase 2 investigation report, together with any necessary outline remediation options, shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to any redevelopment or remediation works being carried out. The report shall assess potential risks to present and proposed humans, property including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and service lines and pipes, adjoining land, groundwaters and surface waters, ecological systems, archaeological sites and ancient monuments and the investigation must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's "Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11", or any subsequent version or additional regulatory guidance. [Note: This condition must be formally discharged by the Local Planning Authority before the submission of details pursuant to the remediation scheme condition that follows]
- Should Land Contamination Remediation Works be identified as necessary under the above condition, no development shall take place until a detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved remediation scheme unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The remediation scheme must include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site management procedures and any necessary long term maintenance and monitoring programme. The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 or any subsequent version, in relation to the intended use of the land after remediation.

[Note: This condition must be formally discharged by the Local Planning Authority before the submission of details pursuant to the verification report condition that follows]

Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme and prior to the first use or occupation of the development, a verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be produced together with any necessary monitoring and maintenance programme and copies of

- any waste transfer notes relating to exported and imported soils shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval. The approved monitoring and maintenance programme shall be implemented.
- In the event that any evidence of potential contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved development that was not previously identified in the approved Phase 2 report, it must be reported in writing immediately to the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in accordance with a methodology previously approved by the Local Planning Authority. Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a verification report must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority in accordance with the immediately above condition.
- All construction/demolition works and ancillary operations, including vehicle movement on site which are audible at the boundary of noise sensitive premises, shall only take place between the hours of 07.30 to 18.30 Monday to Friday and 08.00 to 13.00 hours on Saturday, and at no time during Sundays and Public/Bank Holidays unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
- No development shall take place until details of levels have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority showing cross-sections and elevations of the levels of the site prior to development and the proposed levels of all ground floor slabs of buildings, roadways and accessways and landscaped areas. The development shall be carried out in accordance with those approved details.
- Prior to commencement of the development details showing the means to prevent the discharge of surface water from the development onto the highway shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be carried out in its entirety prior to the access becoming operational and shall be retained at all times.

APPLICATION No:	EPF/1791/14
SITE ADDRESS:	Highfield High Street Ongar Essex CM5 9AF
PARISH:	Ongar
WARD:	Chipping Ongar, Greensted and Marden Ash
APPLICANT:	Mr Keith Alder-Barber
DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSAL:	Demolition of existing bungalow. Construction of 6 no. one and two bed apartments in a single block with access and car parking. (Revised application)
DECISION:	Grant Permission (With Conditions)

Click on the link below to view related plans and documents for this case:

ttp://planpub.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/AnitelM.websearch/ExternalEntryPoint.aspx?SEARCH_TYPE=1&DOC_CLASS_CODE=PL&FOLDER1_REF=566270

CONDITIONS

- The development hereby permitted must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning with the date of this notice.
- The proposed window openings in the north and south flank elevations shall be entirely fitted with obscured glass and have fixed frames to a height of 1.7 metres above the floor of the room in which the window is installed and shall be permanently retained in that condition.
- All construction/demolition works and ancillary operations, including vehicle movement on site which are audible at the boundary of noise sensitive premises, shall only take place between the hours of 07.30 to 18.30 Monday to Friday and 08.00 to 13.00 hours on Saturday, and at no time during Sundays and Public/Bank Holidays unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
- 4 No development shall take place until wheel washing or other cleaning facilities for vehicles leaving the site during construction works have been installed in accordance with details which shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved installed cleaning facilities shall be used to clean vehicles immediately before leaving the site.
- No development shall take place, including site clearance or other preparatory work, until full details of both hard and soft landscape works (including tree planting) and implementation programme (linked to the development schedule) have been submitted to an approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These works shall be carried out as approved. The hard landscaping details shall include, as appropriate, and in addition to details of existing features to be retained: proposed

finished levels or contours; means of enclosure; car parking layouts; other minor artefacts and structures, including signs and lighting and functional services above and below ground. The details of soft landscape works shall include plans for planting or establishment by any means and full written specifications and schedules of plants, including species, plant sizes and proposed numbers /densities where appropriate. If within a period of five years from the date of the planting or establishment of any tree, or shrub or plant, that tree, shrub, or plant or any replacement is removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies or becomes seriously damaged or defective another tree or shrub, or plant of the same species and size as that originally planted shall be planted at the same place, unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation.

- No construction works above ground level shall take place until documentary and photographic details of the types and colours of the external finishes, including details of the cycle and refuse store have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority, in writing. The development shall be implemented in accordance with such approved details.
- 7 No construction works above ground level shall take place until details of screen walls, fences or such similar structures shall be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and shall be erected and thereafter maintained in the agreed positions before the first occupation of any of the dwellings hereby approved.
- The development hereby permitted will be completed strictly in accordance with the approved drawings nos: DRAFT, 7814-10, submitted block plan, 7814-01
- Notwithstanding the position of the bin store and cycle store shown on drawing no 'Draft Block Plan' dated June 14, no development shall take place until the position of the bin store and cycle store, has been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The bin store and cycle store shall be thereafter built in the approved position prior to first occupation.

